COPY

SUPREME COURT
FILED

No. S200923

AUG 14 2012

IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

SAM DURAN, MATT FITZSIMMONS, individually and on behalf of
other members of the general public similarly situated,
Plaintiffs and Respondents,

v.

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
Defendant and Appellant.

Review of a Decision of the Court of Appeal, First Appellate District,
Division One, Case Nos. A12557 and A12687, Reversing Judgment and
Decertifying Class in Case No. 2001-035537
Superior Court of Alameda County
Honorable Robert B. Freedman

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ELLEN LAKE
(SBN 47636)
Law Offices of Ellen
Lake
4230 Lakeshore
Avenue

ISSUES FOR REVIEW

1. In a wage and hour misclassification class action, does the defendant have a due process right to assert its affirmative defense against every class member?

2. Can a plaintiff satisfy the requirements for class certification if a defendant has a due process right to assert its affirmative defense against every class member?

3. Can statistical sampling, surveys and other forms of representative evidence be used to prove classwide liability in a wage and hour misclassification case?

4. When an appellate court reviews a class action judgment and an order denying class decertification, does the appellate court prejudicially err by (a) applying newly-announced legal standards to the facts and then reversing the judgment and the class order without providing for a new trial and/or (b) reweighing the evidence instead of reviewing the judgment and order under the substantial evidence standard of review?

INTRODUCTION

This is a certified class action brought on behalf of U.S. Bank National Association's ("USB") California-based branch employees called "Small Business Banking Officers" and "Business Banking Officers" (collectively, "BBOs"). BBOs sell the Bank's basic products, such as loans, lines of credit, and checking/savings accounts to small businesses. Plaintiffs alleged that the BBOs were misclassified as exempt, in violation of the Unfair Competition Law, and the case was tried to the bench on defendant's affirmative defense of the outside sales exemption.

The trial court, having certified the class, faced the challenging question of how to manage the trial so as to take advantage of the efficiencies of group litigation while at the same time permitting defendant its due process right to make a defense. This challenge was made more daunting by defendant's refusal to agree to any procedure other than an unlimited right to try the liability and damages claims of each and every class member individually. The court found that liability, including determining defendant's realistic expectations for the job, could be resolved by common proof. One form of that proof, the court determined, was the use of a random sample of class members. This sample, in combination with expert and management testimony, company documents and an adverse inference arising from failure to maintain relevant records, formed

the basis for the court's liability and damages determinations.

The trial court's class certification decision was supported by substantial evidence. The court properly concluded at class certification, and in response to repeated motions to decertify, that common issues predominated over individual issues, and were susceptible to common proof. The class certification decision should be upheld even if this Court were to find the trial plan flawed.

Two fundamental questions are presented to this Court. First, is it permissible for a trial court to base liability determinations in part on a random sample of class members, or may a defendant insist that the court hear the testimony of every single class member? This Court and many others have held that a court may indeed rely on pattern, sampling and other forms of general proof in class trials, and that there is no requirement that class liability be based on the testimony of every class member.

Secondly, what due process right does a defendant have to offer evidence contesting liability and damages determinations? There is no question that a defendant, faced with a sampling plan, must be afforded broad latitude to challenge the size, methodology and credibility of the sampling plan and the expert testimony that supports it. Whether a defendant may insist on the testimony of class members outside of the sample depends on the stage of the proceedings, whether issues may be

resolved by common proof and whether further individual testimony from class members would be unduly cumulative.

At the liability stage of a class action, particularly a misclassification case under the Unfair Competition Law, the primary focus is on the employer's common policies and practices and its realistic expectations about how the job is performed, not on the individual application of those policies and practices to each employee. Accordingly, a trial court may, consistent with the sampling plan and Evidence Code §352, limit or exclude non-sampled class member testimony at the liability phase, particularly where, as here, the sample already includes some of the defendant's designated class members.

The court's trial plan for the liability phase of this case reasonably relied on a sample of class member testimony in addition to extensive other evidence. The random selection of the sample, its size and attendant margin of error (13%) were consistent with scientific standards and cases based on representative testimony. The court found that the testimony of each of the 21 sampled class members confirmed that the BBO position was *not* an outside sales position. Other evidence, including management testimony and corporate documents, corroborated this testimony. Defendant was permitted to offer unlimited management and expert testimony and to challenge, directly or through other witnesses, the testimony of every class

member in the sample. The court acted within its discretion in excluding defendant's proffered class member declarations.

At the remedial ("damages") phase of a class action trial, as the Court of Appeal agreed, it is well established that representative testimony or sampled evidence may be used to determine damages. Indeed, in wage and hour cases, courts have long relied upon representative evidence of a portion of the class, even when not randomly sampled, to determine damages for the rest of the class by "just and reasonable inference." *Anderson v. Mt. Clemens Pottery Co.* (1946) 328 U.S. 680, 687-88. While a defendant may be able to challenge individual class member entitlement to relief and amount of damages at the damages phase, it may not re-litigate the class liability determination or insist that all class members establish their individual right to relief. It is the defendant's burden at the remedial phase to produce evidence and prove that, notwithstanding the finding of a classwide pattern or practice of illegal conduct (i.e., misclassification), a particular class member was not subject to this pattern and is therefore not entitled to relief.

In this case, the calculation of damages based on the class-member sample produced a 43% margin of error, unquestionably a high error rate. Standing alone, this error rate would not sustain the damages judgment. But here, aware of the 43% margin of error for the damages calculation, the

trial court offered the parties a range of alternatives that would have greatly reduced the error margin. These alternatives included: individual calculation of damages through a claims procedure, mini-trials, or special masters; the use of a survey; or “any other or additional alternatives offered by the parties.” 83CT24630. While plaintiffs expressed their willingness to consider such alternative procedures, defendant rejected all of them, insisting on re-litigation, on an individual-by-individual basis, of both liability and damages. The court reasonably was not willing to reconsider classwide liability. Defendant’s clear and unambiguous rejection of the alternatives offered should be treated as a waiver of its claims that the damages procedure and the 43% margin error were unconstitutional.

If this Court concludes that despite defendant’s refusal to agree to alternatives, its rights were abridged by the 43% margin of error on damages, it should order a limited remand of the damages phase. Such further proceedings could supplement the existing trial record by increasing the sample size and/or permitting a survey of class members, or any other reasonable alternative procedure which would reduce the margin of error. In such proceedings, the defendant may be permitted to challenge relief to individual class members where it has met its remedial burden of production and proof. The trial court in the first instance should determine the trial plan on remand.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE¹

The Complaint Alleged Misclassification and Failure to Pay Overtime. Plaintiffs Presented Extensive Evidence in Support of Class Certification.

The complaint alleged that defendant failed to pay overtime to its BBOs because it misclassified them all as exempt employees under the outside sales exemption. 1CT1-16; 42RT2939-2940; 6CT1682-1683. The outside sales exemption is met under California law only if employees customarily and regularly spend more than half their working time in sales activities away from the employer's place of employment. Cal. Code Regs., tit. 8, §11040(1)(C), (2)(M).

In support of their motion for class certification, plaintiffs filed declarations from 37 current and former BBOs. The declarations stated as follows. The BBO's job is to sell basic Bank products, such as loans, lines of credit and checking/savings accounts to small business customers. BBOs are branched-based employees who spend more than half their work time inside Bank properties. There are no significant differences among BBOs in terms of the Bank's expectations, the activities they perform, or the hours they work. 6CT1460-1601, 11CT3077-3083, 13CT3664-3672.

¹ We set forth the facts consistent with the substantial evidence rule. The Court of Appeal disregarded that rule throughout its opinion. Plaintiffs raised this issue on rehearing.

Plaintiffs also submitted deposition excerpts from USB managers establishing the following: BBOs work 40-60 hours per week selling bank products. 7CT1739-1741; 6CT1664, 1668. USB has classified all BBOs as exempt. USB has standardized hiring, training, and evaluation procedures for BBOs (6CT1649-1654, 1678, 1680; 7CT1738) but has never tracked or kept records of how much time they work outside Bank property. 6CT1656, 1687-1689, 7CT1742-1743. BBOs are not evaluated, disciplined, or compensated based on *where* they spend their time but only on whether they meet or exceed their sales goals. 6CT1667, 7CT1729-1730, 1736, 1739, 1746-1747. USB's job descriptions for the BBO position have never stated that BBOs are expected to spend more than half their time outside Bank premises. 6CT1670-1671, 1674-1677, 7CT1757-1765.

**In Opposition to Class Certification, Defendant
Filed Declarations That Were Later Repudiated
by the Signers and Discounted by the Court.**

Defendant's opposition to certification included standardized declarations from numerous BBOs who claimed they regularly spent more than half their time performing sales activity outside the office. 9CT2302-10CT269. Four class members repudiated the defense declarations and submitted new declarations in support of plaintiffs. 9CT2325-2328; 9CT2308-2311; 10CT2649-2651; 10CT2620-2625. A fifth BBO

described how a Bank attorney attempted to get her to sign a false declaration. 13CT3664-3668. The trial court later concluded that “the weight to be given to these declarations must be adjusted because of their actual authorship, the circumstances of preparation and internal inconsistencies and ambiguities.” 71CT20991.

**The Trial Court Certified the Class, Finding
Common Questions of Law and Fact Predominated.**

After reviewing nearly 3400 pages of evidence and written argument and holding a lengthy hearing, the trial court granted plaintiffs’ motion for class certification and denied defendant’s opposing motion. The court found that the standards for class certification had been satisfied. 16CT4528-4535; 5RT115-153.

With respect to commonality, the court found that there was sufficient evidence that the BBO position was standardized throughout the Bank so that USB’s realistic expectations and the actual requirements of the job were susceptible to common proof. The court found that USB classified all BBOs as exempt without individualized inquiry as to any employee’s job duties or monitoring to ensure that exemption requirements were being satisfied. The court concluded, “[T]here exists a classwide commonality of interest making class treatment a superior method of resolving this dispute.”

16CT4533. The class at that time contained approximately 282 members.
71CT20987.

**The Trial Court Formulated a Trial Management Plan
After Seeking USB's Input Without Success.**

A year before the start of trial, the court began to develop a trial plan. It directed the parties to meet and confer and to submit proposals on trial management. 8RT204-207.

Plaintiffs' trial plan was based on the declaration of Dr. Richard Drogin, a noted statistician. Dr. Drogin proposed that the parties' experts jointly prepare a survey concerning where class members spent their time and how many hours they worked. Based on the results of the survey, a group of class members would be randomly selected for further discovery and testimony at trial. The court would determine the exemption status for each person in the random sample. The results of the testimony from the sample would be applied to the class as a whole. The procedure was designed to obtain an accurate estimate of the proportion of the class improperly classified as exempt and an accurate calculation of aggregate classwide damages. 20CT5853-5858, 5863-5875. This scientific methodology was modeled on the plan used in *Bell v. Farmers Ins. Exch.* (2004) 115 Cal.App.4th 715, in which Dr. Drogin served as an expert witness. 20CT5865. Plaintiffs also submitted a declaration by Dr. Jon

Krosnick, a noted expert on surveys, on how to prepare a survey for this case. 21CT5930-5957.

USB steadfastly opposed any plan based on a survey or on representative testimony – or any plan that acknowledged that class certification had been granted. Defendant’s only proposal was that the court appoint retired judges as special masters to hold individual trials of liability and damages for *all* class members, with the retired judge’s decision final as to each class member. 2CTSupp.349-351; 20CT5891-21CT5906; 10RT230-231.

The court announced it was inclined to adopt a plan consistent with plaintiffs’ proposal. The court ordered the parties to meet and confer concerning areas of agreement and disagreement on the trial plan. 21CT5911-5915. The parties met but remained in complete disagreement. Plaintiffs continued to espouse an expert sampling plan based on a survey plus representative testimony. Defendant objected to any plan that did not involve individual trials of liability and damages for each class member. 21CT5916-5929.

At a later hearing, the court proposed to randomly select a sample of perhaps 20 but no more than 50 class members to testify at trial, with the findings on liability and damages to be extrapolated to the rest of the class. 10RT221-238. The court’s proposal was modeled on plaintiffs’ trial

management plan. The court proposed to omit the survey because defendant “strenuously and vigorously” opposed it. 10RT225-226. Defendant strongly opposed random selection of witnesses and insisted that all class members testify. 10RT230-231. The court urged the parties again to meet and confer about many topics, including the possible use of a survey and the number of random witnesses. 10RT233-237; 21CT6163-6166.

The meet and confer process went nowhere because USB continued to insist on individual hearings on liability and damages for each class member. After reviewing the parties’ responses, the court announced that 20 randomly chosen class members would testify in Phase I of the trial. Defendant demanded, over plaintiffs’ objections, that all current and former named plaintiffs be non-randomly selected to testify as a part of the RWG along with the randomly selected trial witnesses. The court granted defendant’s request as to the two current plaintiffs, adding them to the sample. 11RT244-249. Collectively, these witnesses were called the “Representative Witness Group” or “RWGs.” 11RT240, 248-249; 22CT6241-6245. The court randomly selected 25 names (20 witnesses and 5 alternates) from among the class members. 12RT266-267; 22CT6289; 71CT20988-20989. Although the court indicated that it would not permit testimony from class members outside of the RWG for purposes

of determining class liability, it placed no limits on other witnesses whom the parties could call. 10RT231-232.

**Plaintiffs Dismissed Their Legal Claims
and Proceeded Only Under the UCL.
Four RWGs Opted Out.**

After plaintiffs announced their intention to dismiss their legal claims under the Labor Code and proceed to a bench trial on their equitable claim under the Unfair Competition Law (22CT6290-6317), the court allowed plaintiffs to file a third amended complaint but ordered that class members be notified and given a second opt-out opportunity. 23CT6614-6638. Nine class members opted out, including four RWGs, leaving a total of 261 class members. 25CT7285-7286, 7290, 12RT266-267. Two RWGs who opted out were current employees Michael Lewis and Sean MacClelland, who by then held USB management positions. 25CT7334, 7338. USB moved to reinstate Lewis and MacClelland as RWGs, claiming they opted out before they learned they were RWGs. 25CT7304-7318. Plaintiffs demonstrated that all RWGs, including Lewis and MacClelland, were immediately informed of their selection before being notified of their right to opt out. 25CT7376-7377, 7395, 7397. The court refused to reinstate Lewis and MacClelland as RWGs. 26CT7430-7431.

Defendant moved to decertify the class, arguing that Proposition 64, enacted three years earlier, required that all class members in a UCL case

show they had suffered actual damages and that such a requirement made class certification improper. The trial court denied the motion. It rejected USB's legal argument and found that the depositions of the 22 RWGs and the nine other class members whom USB had hand-picked to depose in connection with plaintiffs' motion for summary adjudication showed that the employees were non-exempt and supported the previous certification decision. 38CT11092-11094. By the time of trial the class contained 260 members. 71CT20989.

**At Trial, All the RWGs Testified They Spent
a Majority of Their Time Inside Bank Properties.**

The liability phase of the trial (Phase I) lasted 41 trial days. Plaintiffs presented testimony from 21 of the 22 RWGs, who all testified they performed exclusively sales duties, worked more than 40 hours per week, and consistently spent more than 50% of their work time *inside* Bank property. (The 22nd RWG failed to respond to a subpoena and did not testify.) The RWGs all testified that the Bank had never informed them, orally or in writing, that the majority of their work should be outside the Bank. *E.g.*, 71CT20998-21012; 19RT539-540; 21RT711-712; 22RT861; 27RT1268, 1287-88; 28RT1425-27, 1434; 30RT1642-43, 1655-57; 31RT1741-42, 1756; 32RT1827-1831, 1842-43; 37RT2289, 2292-94, 2307;

38RT2390; 39RT2477; 40RT2611, 2622, 2628-9; 41RT2736-2737, 2758, 2802.

Three RWGs had signed declarations that USB had submitted in opposition to class certification. These RWGs, Chad Penza, Adney Koga and Steven Bradley, testified that the declarations submitted by defendant in their names contained statements that were not true and which they had not made and that they had signed the declarations out of fear for their jobs. 22RT878-880, 886; 23RT957-976; 36RT2231, 2237-2238, 2267-2268; 40RT2669, 2716-2718.

Much of the Defense Evidence at Trial Also Favored Plaintiffs.

The defense case consisted of testimony from 16 witnesses, almost all USB managers and supervisors. Much of the testimony was favorable to plaintiffs.

Ted Biggs, Western Regional Manager for Small Business, testified he was unaware of any mandatory policy that BBOs spend a majority of their time outside Bank property. 49RT4046-4047. Ross Carey, Division Manager for the Western States with responsibility for the Small Business Banking Organization, confirmed that USB does not track where BBOs spend their work time and that there is no compliance program to ensure they are outside most of the time. 43RT3022-3023, 3042. Linda Allen, Human Resources Manager, testified there was no ongoing audit program to ensure that BBOs

are properly classified as exempt. 58RT4810. Patricia Ann Farley, District Manager for the East Bay Area (45RT3217), stated that BBOs are evaluated and rewarded based on *whether*, not *where*, they meet their sales goals. 45RT3239, 3286-3289.

**The Statement of Decision for Phase I Found
the Class Was Non-Exempt.**

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