Case No.: S200923

DEC 28 2012

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

SAM DURAN, MATT FITZSIMMONS, individually and on behalf of other members of the general public similarly situated,

Plaintiffs and Respondents,

VS.

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,

Defendant and Appellant.

Review of a Decision of the Court of Appeal, First Appellate District,

Division One, Case Nos. A125557 and A126827, Reversing Judgment and

Decertifying Class in Case No. 2001-035537

Superior Court of the State of California, County of Alameda

Honorable Robert B. Freedman, Judge Presiding

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT OF APPEAL PROPERLY REVERSED THE DENIAL OF USB'S SECOND DECERTIFICATION MOTION.

A. Standard Of Review.

A ruling on a motion for decertification is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *Walsh*, 148 Cal.App.4th at 1451. However, "[t]his deferential standard of review... is inapplicable if the trial court has evaluated class certification using improper criteria or an incorrect legal analysis." *Ghazaryan v. Diva Limousine, Ltd.*, 169 Cal.App.4th 1524, 1530 (2008). A "trial court's ruling must be reversed if its findings are not supported by substantial evidence, if improper criteria were used, or if erroneous legal assumptions were made." *Dep't of Fish & Game v. Super. Ct.*, 197 Cal.App.4th 1323, 1333 (2011). "If the trial court failed to follow the correct legal analysis..., an appellate court is required to reverse... even though there may be substantial evidence to support the court's order." *Bartold v. Glendale Fed. Bank*, 81 Cal.App.4th 816, 828 (2000).

B. The Court Of Appeal Did Not Disturb The Trial Court's First Two Certification Rulings.

In the Court of Appeal, USB challenged the rulings on Plaintiffs' original certification motion, USB's pre-trial motion for decertification, and USB's

second decertification motion brought after Phase I. The Court of Appeal did not reach the first two rulings, but reversed the denial of USB's second decertification motion, rendered after months of trial confirmed the individualized nature of the liability inquiry. Contrary to Plaintiffs' argument, the Court of Appeal did not decertify solely due to the flawed trial plan, but rather because the record through the completion of Phase I still contained no evidence that liability was subject to common proof. Thus, even allowing the trial court the widest possible discretion by not reversing the earlier certification rulings, the Court of Appeal found that the trial court relied on improper indicia of commonality in maintaining class treatment when, even after months of trial, the record revealed no common method for addressing liability and "the only way to determine with certainty if an individual BBO spent more time inside or outside the office would be to question him or her individually." Slip.Op. 58, 71-72. Under these circumstances, decertification is proper. See, e.g., Walsh, 148 Cal.App.4th at 1456; Keller v. Tuesday Morning, 179 Cal.App.4th 1389, 1391 (2009); Marlo v. UPS, 639 F.3d 942, 948 (9th Cir. 2011); Cruz v. Dollar Tree Stores, 2011 U.S.Dist. LEXIS 73938, *2 (N.D.Cal. 2011); Brady v. Deloitte & Touche, 2012 U.S.Dist. LEXIS 42118, *16-21 (N.D.Cal. 2012); Whiteway v. FedEx Kinkos, 2009 U.S.Dist. LEXIS 127360, *8-11 (N.D.Cal. 2009).

- C. The Court Of Appeal Properly Reversed The Second Decertification Motion Ruling Because The Evidence Introduced And Excluded At Trial Demonstrated The Individual Nature Of The Exemption Inquiry.
 - 1. Class Treatment Is Proper In Wage And Hour
 Cases Only Where Liability May Be Determined As
 To The Entire Class Based On A Uniformly
 Applicable Policy Or Practice That Violates The
 Law.

To support class treatment, Plaintiffs must prove that there is an ascertainable, *manageable* class and a well-defined community of interest among class members, such that class litigation is a superior method of resolving the dispute. *Walsh*, 148 Cal.App.4th at 1450. To do so, a plaintiff must prove, among other things, that common issues of law or fact predominate over issues unique to individual class members. *Id.* The court must consider the plaintiff's legal theory and the defendant's affirmative defenses, and certification is improper if an affirmative defense raises predominant individual issues. *Id.* "Among the issues central to the predominance inquiry is whether the case, if tried, would present intractable management problems." *Cruz*, 2011 U.S.Dist. LEXIS 73938 at *11.

Class actions are generally appropriate only "if the defendant's liability can be determined by facts common to all members of the class." *Brinker v. Super. Ct.*, 53 Cal.4th 1004, 1022 (2012). In the wage and hour context, this generally requires a "uniform policy consistently applied to a group of employees [that] is in violation of wage and hour laws." *Id.* at 1033, 1051-1052. Thus, *Brinker* found class treatment proper on a rest break claim because the employer's universally-applied policy facially violated California law. *Id.* at 1033. Certification was inappropriate on the plaintiffs' off-the-clock claim because there was no uniform companywide policy or "common method of proof" to establish liability, thus requiring

liability to be established in an "employee by employee fashion." *Id.* at 1051-1052; *see also Morgan v. Wet Seal, Inc.*, 210 Cal.App.4th 1341, 1364-1368 (2012) (class certification denied on expense reimbursement claim in absence of common policy or other common proof to establish liability).

The principles reiterated in *Brinker* are also consistent with *Wal-Mart Stores v. Dukes*, 131 S.Ct. 2541 (2011), which this Court cited with approval. *Dukes* explained that commonality "requires the plaintiff to demonstrate that the class members 'have suffered the same injury'" based on a "common contention" that is "capable of classwide resolution—which means that determination of its truth or falsity will resolve an issue that is central to the validity of each one of the claims in one stroke." *Id.* at 2551. *Dukes* further emphasized:

What matters to class certification... is not the raising of common 'questions'—even in droves—but rather the capacity of a classwide proceeding to generate common answers apt to drive the resolution of the litigation. Dissimilarities within the proposed class are what have the potential to impede the generation of common answers.

Id. (emphasis original) (citation omitted); see also Brinker, 53 Cal.4th at 1022 n.5. Even where a trial court initially certifies a class, if subsequent proceedings reveal unmanageable individual issues, the court should decertify. Sav-On, 34 Cal.4th at 335; see also Walsh, 148 Cal.App.4th at 1456 (decertifying class); Keller, 179 Cal.App.4th at 1391 (same); Marlo, 639 F.3d at 948 (same).

2. Courts Have Uniformly Found Outside Salesperson Misclassification Claims Revealing Varying Amounts Of Time Outside The Office Inappropriate For Class Treatment.

Under California law, an outside salesperson is one "who customarily and regularly works more than half the working time away from the employer's place of business" engaged in sales duties. IWC Wage Order No. 4-2001; 8 Cal. Code Regs §11040(2)(M).

The reasons for excluding an outside salesman are fairly apparent. Such salesmen, to a great extent, work[] individually. There are no restrictions respecting the time he shall work and he can earn as much or as little, within the range of his ability, as his ambition dictates. In lieu of overtime, he ordinarily receives commissions as extra compensation. He works away from his employer's place of business, is not subject to the personal supervision of his employer, and his employer has no way of knowing the number of hours he works per day. To apply hourly standards primarily devised for an employee on a fixed hourly wage is incompatible with the individual character of the work of an outside salesman.

Vinole v. Countrywide Home Loans, 571 F.3d 935, 945 n.10 (9th Cir. 2009); DLSE Op.Ltr. 1998.09.08 (outside salespersons generally "set their own time, and they're on the road, they call on their customers... [R]arely [does the employer] know what they're doing on an hour-to-hour basis."). The above rationale for the outside sales exemption squarely applies to BBOs.

Whether an employee qualifies for the outside sales exemption turns, "first and foremost," on "how the employee actually spends his or her time." *Ramirez v. Yosemite Water*, 20 Cal.4th 785, 802 (1999). *Ramirez* further recognized that an employee might try to evade an exemption through substandard performance and, accordingly, even if the employee spent most of his or her time inside the employer's place of business courts

must consider whether that practice diverged from the employer's realistic expectations of the job. *Id.*

Courts analyzing certification in outside salesperson cases where liability turned on how much time an employee spent outside the office have *uniformly* held that this individualized inquiry precluded class treatment in the absence of a common policy suggesting class members were required to spend the majority of their time inside. *See Walsh*, 148 Cal.App.4th at 1460-1461; *Mevorah v. Wells Fargo Home Mortg.*, 571 F.3d 953, 956-959 (9th. Cir. 2009) ("Wells Fargo I"); *In Re Wells Fargo Home Mortgage Overtime Pay Litig.*, 268 F.R.D. 604, 611-613 (N.D.Cal. 2010) ("Wells Fargo II"); *Vinole*, 571 F.3d at 946-947; *Maddock v. KB Homes*, 248 F.R.D. 229, 245-248 (C.D.Cal. 2007); *see also Brinker*, 53 Cal.4th at 1032, 1053-1054, n.2, 3 (citing Walsh with approval).

3. The Court Of Appeal Properly Held That The Trial
Court Relied On Improper Indicia Of
Commonality In Concluding A Classwide Liability
Determination Was Possible.

In initially granting class certification, the court reasoned that the BBO position was "standardized" based on USB's uniform classification of the position and its alleged failure to train or monitor BBOs regarding the exemption requirements:

[T]he record contains substantial evidence that defendant treated BBOs... alike, regardless of whether such treatment was appropriate under the law. Plaintiffs have substantial evidence that defendant classified all BBOs... as exempt, and did so without any inquiry (let alone any individualized inquiry) as to any particular employee's job duties, hours worked, performance or any other factor. This apparent policy, defendant's apparent failure to train or monitor BBOs... to ensure that the exemption requirements would be or were being satisfied, and the apparent standardization of the BBO... position all create substantial issues of fact and

law that are common among class members and that are likely to rest on 'a common thread of evidence' class-wide.

16CT4619. Plaintiffs also alleged that USB had common hiring and training procedures, sales incentive plans, job descriptions, performance appraisal standards, and that BBOs shared similar general sales duties. 6CT1616-1621, 1626-1627. Nowhere did the trial court find that USB had a uniform policy (express or *de facto*) requiring BBOs to spend the majority of their work time inside the Bank, *nor did Plaintiffs even argue this* in moving for class certification. 6CT1604-1629; 13CT3556-3575.

In denying USB's first decertification motion prior to trial, the trial court reiterated its reasoning, relying on USB's uniform classification of BBOs as the "fundamental" evidence of the "standardization" of the position:

As set forth in the original class certification order, fundamental to Plaintiffs' overtime claims is the assertion that Defendant classified all BBOs as exempt, and did so without any inquiry as to any particular employee's job duties, hours worked, performance or any other factors, and this assertion was supported by substantial evidence submitted by Plaintiffs in support of their original motion for class certification.

38CT11094 (emphasis added)¹³; see also 32CT9428. As with the original certification order, the trial court did not find that USB had a common policy requiring BBOs to spend the majority of their time inside, nor did Plaintiffs allege any such policy. 38CT11094; 32CT9422-9456.

While the policies relied upon by the trial court may constitute evidence of "commonality" in an abstract sense, they are not evidence of commonality that could facilitate a "common answer" on where any or all

¹³ All further emphases are added unless otherwise noted.

BBOs spent their work time, much less whether the entire class was misclassified. See, e.g., Wells Fargo II, 268 F.R.D. at 611 (uniform classification and standard policies insufficient for certification because none relate to proving where class members spent their time); Vinole, 571 F.3d at 946 (same); Soderstedt v. CBIZ S. California, 197 Cal.App.4th 133, 153 (2011) ("[A]n individualized inquiry is necessary even where the alleged misclassification involves application of a uniform [classification] policy, because the policy may properly classify some employees as exempt, but not others."); Walsh, 148 Cal.App.4th at 1461; Dunbar v. Albertson's, 141 Cal.App.4th 1422, 1427 (2006); Gales v. Winco Foods, 2011 U.S.Dist. LEXIS 96125, at *27-*35 (N.D.Cal. 2011).

Wells Fargo II, another outside sales exemption case, is particularly instructive. There, the defendant uniformly classified the employees, and the class members had common job descriptions, uniform training, the same primary goal (selling mortgages), uniform job expectations, similar compensation plans, and standardized employee evaluation standards. 268 F.R.D. at 611. The court denied certification, reasoning that none of this common proof could provide a classwide answer on the pivotal liability issue—how much time class members spent outside the office. The court explained that the only conceivable type of policy that would replace the need for such an individualized analysis would be a common policy requiring the class members to spend most of their time inside the office. Absent such a policy, the court "would need to conduct inquiries into how much time each individual [employee] spent in or out of the office...." Id. Accordingly, the court held that individual issues predominated and class treatment was inappropriate. Id.

Similarly, in *Vinole*, the court denied certification of a proposed class of loan consultants classified as exempt under the outside sales exemption. 571 F.3d at 946-947. Despite evidence of many commonly

applicable policies, including the uniform classification of the employees, individual inquiries to determine liability remained necessary because none of the policies, singularly or collectively, required the class members to spend the majority of their time in or out of the office, especially where the class members had discretion to determine how and where to perform their job duties. *Id.*; *see also Spainhower v. U.S. Bank Nat'l Assoc.*, 2010 U.S.Dist. LEXIS 46316, *11-*12 (C.D.Cal. 2010) (discretion on activities negated possibility of common proof on liability).

As in Wells Fargo II and Vinole, there was no evidence before the trial court that USB had a common policy requiring BBOs to spend the majority of their work time inside. Instead, BBOs had discretion to determine how and where to do their jobs and USB did not track how much time was spent inside versus outside. Not surprisingly, the evidence before the trial court showed substantial material variation among class members regarding their outside time.

At each stage of certification briefing, USB presented declarations of 75 BBOs and deposition testimony of the four prior named plaintiffs showing that these BBOs spent the majority of their work time outside the Bank on sales duties. Former named plaintiff Haven testified that she spent 80% of her time "outside the branch knocking on doors trying to sign

With the exception of declarations by *three* RWG witnesses admitted at trial, no credibility finding was ever made as to the other BBO declarations. To the extent Plaintiffs speculate that USB's declarations should be discounted because current employees fear retaliation, that contention too is logically flawed. *See Wong v. AT&T*, 2011 U.S.Dist. LEXIS 125988, *16 n.12 (C.D.Cal. 2011) (court will not look with "jaundiced eye" at defense declarations of current employees, who are no more likely to "curry favor" or fear retaliation with employer than former employees are likely to have an "axe to grind" or "tainted by the possibility of monetary gain.")

people up." 68CT20180-20181. Similarly, Rafiqzada testified that she spent 60% of her time "performing [her] duties as a small business banker outside the branch." 68CT20176. Shekarlab testified unambiguously that he spent 80-90% of his time "outside the branch" and "in the field" calling on prospects. 68CT20184. Karavani testified that she spent 60-80% of her time "outside the branch selling" and "calling on businesses." 68CT20187. Plaintiffs effectively conceded these prior named plaintiffs were exempt, substituting in new named plaintiffs to replace the four uninjured representatives. Nonetheless, they recovered \$160,000 under the Judgment. Plaintiffs supplied 37 BBO declarations (less than half that presented by USB) stating these BBOs spent the majority of their time *inside* the Bank. 6CT1461-1462; 11CT3062; 13CT3648.

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